CIVIL NO. S253458

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

DAVID KAANAANA et.al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

MAY 1 3 2019

vs.

Jorge mayarrete Clerk

BARRETT BUSINESS SERVICES, INC., et.al.,

Deputy

Defendants and Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT Case Nos. B276420, B279838

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HINSHAW & CULBERTSON LLP

Frederick J. Ufkes (CSB 106889)
Filomena E. Meyer (CSB 151410)
11601 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 800
Los Angeles, California 90025
Telephone: (310) 909-8000

Telephone: (310) 909-8000 Facsimile: (310) 909-8001

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS AND APPELLANTS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the phrase "work done for irrigation, utility, reclamation, and improvement districts, and other districts of this type" in *Labor Code* section 1720(a)(2) of California's Prevailing Wage Law ("PWL") (found in *Labor Code*, sections 1720-1861) should be interpreted to cover any type of work performed under contract for public entities regardless of its

nature, funding, purpose or function, including routine belt sorting at recycling facilities?

INTRODUCTION

This proceeding arises from a representative action brought on behalf of individuals ("Respondents") employed by Defendant and Appellant Barrett Business Services, Inc. ("BBSI") to conduct belt sorting operations at two recycling facilities owned and operated by the County Sanitation District No. 2 of Los Angeles County (the "Sanitation District"). Respondents asserted that their routine trash sorting activities constituted "public work" under the PWL and sued BBSI seeking, inter alia, wages at the prevailing rate.

The PWL governs wages and conditions of employment on California's public works projects. [Lusardi Construction Co. v. Aubry (1992) 1 Cal.4th 976, 981 ("Lusardi").] Labor Code section 1771 mandates that, except for projects costing \$1,000 or less, "all workers employed on public works" must be paid the general prevailing rate of per diem wages "for work of a similar character in the locality in which the public work is performed."

The compass of "public work" under the PWL is addressed in Labor Code section 1720 ("Section 1720"). At issue in this case is whether there is any interplay between Section 1720(a) subdivisions (1) and (2) in defining what work performed for districts like the Sanitation District constitutes public works

subject to the PWL. The term "public works" is defined in eight subsections of Section 1720(a) starting with (a)(1) and (a)(2):

- (1) Construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work done under contract and paid for in whole or in part out of public funds ...
- (2) Work done for irrigation, utility, reclamation, and improvement districts, and other districts of this type... (emphases supplied.)

Respondents contend that their trash-sorting work for BBSI, even though not "construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work" under subsection 1720(a)(1), was "work done" for the Sanitation District and therefore "public work" under subsection 1720(a)(2) for which prevailing wages had to be paid. In contrast, Appellants contend that "work done" in subsection 1720(a)(2) is limited to work related to the "construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work" described in subsection 1720(a)(1).

Respondents lost their bid for prevailing wages at the trial court level. The trial court ruled that, in light of the PWL's purpose of benefitting the construction worker on public construction projects, the phrase "work done" in subsection 1720(a)(2) qualifies as "public work" only if it involves "construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work"

described in subsection 1720(a)(1). Since sorting recyclables on a belt did not meet this criteria, the trial court concluded that it did not trigger the application of the PWL. [C.T.2. at 365]

The Court of Appeal reversed in a published opinion. Adopting the broad and literal construction urged by Respondents, the appellate court found Respondents' belt sorting work to be public work compensable at prevailing rates under subsection 1720(a)(2) simply because it was "work done" for a district that the Court of Appeal determined, without discussion or citation to any evidence, was of the same "type" as "irrigation, utility, reclamation, and improvement districts."

This unbounded reading of subsection 1720(a)(2) is a radical departure from decades of precedent and is unjustified by the PWL's history, purpose and intent. The PWL was originally enacted in 1931 to protect local construction wage standards by preventing itinerant contractors from under-bidding local contractors on publicly-financed projects using cheap, bootleg labor. [State Building & Construction Trades Council v. Duncan (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 289, 294-295 ("Duncan").]

In keeping with this purpose, the scope of "public works" covered by the PWL was historically confined to construction or repair work on public infrastructure projects. While the scope of "public works" has been clarified in recent years to include, for example, work done in the pre- and post-construction phases of a construction project, the Legislature has never strayed from its original intent. All of the amendments to the statute have

involved work on, affecting or relating to the construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair of public infrastructure.

The Court of Appeal, however, would extend the PWL's reach indiscriminately to any and all work done for the affected districts, without regard to the relationship of the work to public infrastructure and would include even routine operations like trash sorting that happen to be performed in public facilities. The Court of Appeal's opinion must be reversed because it is anomalous and is without support in the statutory scheme, the history, the purposes and the policies underlying the PWL. As Justice Elizabeth Grimes cogently points out in her dissent, the majority's decision is:

...untethered to the decades-long history during which prevailing wage requirements have been applied to various kinds of work involving or affecting physical facilities or infrastructure - but never, until now, to the routine operations that may be performed inside but not affecting these facilities.

[Kaanaana, supra 29 Cal.App.5th at p.819 (emphases supplied).]

If allowed to stand, the appellate decision would have profound and far-reaching economic implications for thousands of

districts, their contracts, the workers provided by contract for public entities and for the Department of Industrial Relations ("DIR"), the agency charged with enforcement of the PWL.

For many types of work, prevailing wages are higher than the wages on typical private projects. The sweepingly broad interpretation of the nature of "public work" provided by the Court of Appeal threatens to exponentially increase the labor costs of the affected districts for even their routine operations. [Lusardi, supra 1 Cal.4th at p. 981.]

The DIR, in turn, would have to determine concomitant rates for a panoply of activities which in the PWL's nearly 90-year history have never been deemed public work, performed by personnel the PWL was never designed to protect. [Labor Code, §§1773, 1773.9.] This decision implicates wage rates for contract janitors, security officers, food service workers, temporary administrative or clerical personnel and even contract lawyers, engineers and/or accountants, which thousands of publicly funded districts currently use on a regular basis. These persons have never before been covered by prevailing wage laws, are not the persons intended to be covered by the statutory scheme, and for those reasons, are not included in the DIR's existing wage rate classifications.

None of these sweeping ramifications are warranted by the PWL's purpose or intent. Unlike the field of public construction, there is and can be no argument that the wage rates for Respondents' trash recycling activities or other routine

operations of special districts are in need of protection from predatory pricing behavior by shady contractors. Although the PWL is to be liberally construed, this rule "should not blindly be followed so as to eradicate the clear ... purpose of the statute and allow eligibility for those for whom it was obviously not intended." [Marzec v. Public Employees' Retirement System (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 889, 903.] The principle of liberal construction does not warrant application of the PWL to routine work done by contract workers as part of the operations of a district that has nothing to do with the infrastructure that constitutes the public works project.

Nor does the Court of Appeal explain why the contracts of "irrigation, utility, reclamation, improvement and similar districts" should be targeted for more stringent treatment than that of any other political subdivision under the PWL. If the Court of Appeal's decision is followed, all of the contracts entered into by special districts will be subject to the PWL and therefore considerably more expensive than those of other public agencies. Again, Justice Grimes' dissenting opinion correctly observes that there is no justification for such an anomaly, stating that there is:

...no evidence the Legislature intended that all work done for improvement districts, without limitation - unlike that for all other public agencies - was to be compensated at prevailing wage rates, and I can think of no reason justifying such an anomalous result.

[Kaanaana, supra 29 Cal.App.5th at p. 819 (emphasis supplied)]

It is presumed that the Legislature intended reasonable results consistent with its expressed purpose, not absurd consequences. [Santa Clara County Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220, 235.] "Fidelity to the literal language of a statute cannot stand where, as here, a literal construction results in absurd and unintended consequences." [People v. Broussard (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1067, 1071. For the foregoing reasons and upon the following discussion, reversal is compelled.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Recycling Facilities

The Sanitation District owns and operates the Downey Area Recycling and Transfer Facility ("DART") and the Puente Hills Materials Recovery Facility ("MRF") in California. [1 C.T. 70, 72; 2 C.T. at 341, ¶¶d-f.] The DART and MRF are materials recovery and transfer facilities that receive and sort recyclable materials and then transfer the residual waste to landfills.

Daily, MRF receives and processes approximately 500 tons of commercial waste from local businesses, offices and commercial buildings including cardboard, paper, plastics, scrap wood, scrap metal and concrete. [1 C.T. at 70.] DART, on the

other hand, separates residential commingled curbside recyclable materials and green waste such as yard trimmings, vegetation, untreated plant and wood waste. [1 C.T.1. at 70-71.]

In June 2007, BBSI contracted with the Sanitation District to staff and operate the material recovery portions of DART and MRF. [1 C.T. at 70-71.]

B. The Class Action Suit

On November 12, 2012, Respondents instituted this class action against BBSI and Michael Alvarez, one of its former managers, on behalf of all "belt sorters employed by [BBSI] at DART and MRF between April 15, 2011 and September 30, 2013". [1 C.T. at 15.] The Third Amended Complaint ("TAC") was the operative pleading.

C. BBSI's Motion To Strike and Order Thereon

On October 13, 2015, BBSI successfully moved to strike all references to the "prevailing wage rate" from the TAC and any other allegations appurtenant thereto. [1 C.T. at 31-41.]

The trial court, in granting the motion, concluded that sorting recyclables for recycling facilities did not come within the definition of public works under the PWL simply because it was work done for the Sanitation District. The trial court relied on a coverage opinion by the DIR in *The Hauling of Biosolids from Orange County*, PW 2005-039 (Cal. Dept. of Indus. Relations, April 21, 2006)(the "*Biosolids* Ruling"), where the Director said:

...[f]inding the reach of 1720(a)(2) to be unlimited in scope would be illogical and [would] create prevailing wage obligations for any type of work performed under contract for a district regardless of the nature of that work.

Given the general purpose of California Prevailing Wage Law 'to benefit the construction worker on public construction,' the most reasonable way to define the scope of section 1720(a)(2) is to require that the work fall within one of the types of covered work enumerated in section 1720(a)(1).

[2 C.T. at 367-368 (emphasis supplied).]

D. Appellate Court Decision

The appellate court reversed, finding that subsection 1720(a)(2) covers recycling work done for a Sanitation District even if it does not fit the categories identified in subsection 1720(a)(1). [Kaanaana v. Barrett Business Services, Inc. (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 778, 797.]

In the Court of Appeal's view, subsection 1720(a)(2) can and should be given effect independent of the strictures of subsection 1720(a)(1) because it is not a mere subdivision of 1720(a)(1) but one of eight equal subdivisions which together

constitute the definition of "public works" under the PWL. [Kaanaana, supra 29 Cal.App.5th at p. 791.]

Turning to its history, the Court of Appeal found it significant that in the original version of 1720(a)(2), the Legislature defined "public works" as "[c]onstruction work done for irrigation, utility, reclamation, improvement and other districts (emphasis supplied)" but later removed "construction" as a qualifier in the 1937 enactment of the current Labor Code. [Kaanaana, supra 29 Cal.App.5th at p. 793.]

While acknowledging the PWL's original purpose as aimed at assisting the construction industry in recovering from the Great Depression, the Court of Appeal, citing to *Lusardi*, observed that the overall purpose of the present-day PWL has been broadened to benefit and protect employees on public works projects. [Kaanaana, supra 29 Cal.App.5th at pp. 792-793 citing to Lusardi, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 987.] These benefits, according to the Court, should not be denied employees contracted to work for special districts simply because they are not working on construction projects. [Id. at p. 793.]

The Court of Appeal also found significance in the fact that Section 1720's definition of "public works" applied to all articles within the chapter on "Public Works" in the Labor Code including to those sections requiring worker's compensation insurance, prohibiting discrimination and penalizing the charging of placement fees for public work laborers. "We see nothing in the legislation that suggests public works in these contexts apply

only to construction-related activities." [Kaanaana, supra 29 Cal.App.5th at pp. 791-792.]

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. THE PWL'S INTENT AND PURPOSE LIMITS THE

 SCOPE OF SUBSECTION 1720(A)(2) TO

 CONSTRUCTION AND INFRASTRUCTURERELATED ACTIVITIES
 - A. <u>Subdivision 1720(a)(2) Contains a Latent</u>

 <u>Ambiguity</u>

The role of all statutory construction is "to divine and give effect to the Legislature's intent." [Beal Bank, SSB v. Arter & Hadden, LLP (2007) 42 Cal.4th 503, 507-508. [Statutory terms are given their plain meaning unless an ambiguity appears. [Romano v. Rockwell Internat., Inc. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 479, 493.] A statute is ambiguous if it is capable of two constructions, both of which are reasonable. [Smith v. Rae-Venter Law Group (2002) 29 Cal.4th 345, 358–359.]

In Azusa Land Partners v. Department of Industrial Relations (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1 ("Azusa"), the court in interpreting section 1720(a), cautioned that, "[s]tatutory language which seems clear when considered in isolation, may in fact be ambiguous or uncertain when considered in context. [Id., 191 Cal.App.4th at 16 (emphases supplied).] Section 1720, the Azusa court noted, "is one of those cases." [Id., at p.16.] "If Section 1720 is considered straightforward in operation,

analytically, it is anything but... [the statute] is hardly a triumph of the drafter's art." [Id., 191 Cal.App.4th at pp.15-16 (emphasis supplied).]

Historical context exposes a latent ambiguity in the meaning to be given to the phrase "work done" in subsection 1720(a)(2) which is not readily apparent from its text. According subsection 1720(a)(2) what it deemed was that subsection's plain and ordinary meaning, the Court of Appeal held that all work done for the enumerated districts can properly be characterized as public work.

This interpretation is not sustained by the PWL's history, background, purpose or statutory scheme. Instead, as the following discussion will make plain, these legislative intent markers lead to the opposite conclusion – *i.e.*, that subsection 1720(a)(2) was intended and must be restricted in its application to construction and physical infrastructure-related activities. [Smith, supra 29 Cal.4th at pp. 358–359; Stanton v. Panish (1980) 28 Cal.3d 107, 115.]

B. The Legislature Intended Subsection 1720(a)(2) to Apply Only to Construction and/or Infrastructure-Related Activities

In 1931, Congress enacted the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C., §§ 3141-3148) which provides in pertinent part that any contract by the Federal Government over \$2,000:

...for construction, alteration, or repair, including painting and decorating, of public buildings and public works of the Government...and which requires or involves the employment of mechanics or laborers shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages to be paid...

[40 U.S.C., §3142 (emphases supplied.)]

At the time, the federal government had embarked on an extensive ten-year, half-a-billion dollar public building program intended to benefit the country at large through distribution of construction. [H.R. Rep. No. 2453 on H. R, 16619, House Committee on Labor, 71st Cong., 3d Sess., 2 pp. (January 31, 1931); S. Rep. No. 1445 on S. 5904, Senate Committee on Manufacturers, 71st Cong. 3d Sess., 2 pp (February 3, 1931).]

Unfortunately, the glut of workers caused by the Depression allowed unscrupulous contractors to underbid local contractors for these lucrative government building contracts by importing migratory labor and paying them wages far below local rates. [Id.; see also International Union of Operating Engineers v. Arthurs (W.D.Okla. 1973) 355 F.Supp. 7, 8-9.] The Davis-Bacon Act sought to put a stop to this practice by "fixing a floor under wages on Government projects." [U.S. v. Binghamton Construction Co. (1954) 347 U.S. 171, 176-177, 98 L.Ed. 594, 599, 74 S.Ct. 438.]

For purposes of the Davis-Bacon Act, the United States Secretary of Labor defined "construction" as: "All types of work done on a particular building or work at the site thereof ... by laborers and mechanics employed by a construction contractor or construction subcontractor" [29 C.F.R., subdivision 5.2(j)(1) (emphasis supplied).]

Concurrent with the Davis-Bacon Act and for the same reasons, California enacted its own Public Works Wage Rate Act [Stats. 1931, Ch. 397, p. 910 (the "1931 Act")]. [Duncan, supra 162 Cal.App.4th at 294-295.] Like the Davis-Bacon Act, Section 1 of the 1931 Act (now substantially embodied in Labor Code, §1771) provided:

Not less than the general prevailing rate of per diem wages for work of a similar character in the locality in which the work is performed . . . shall be paid to all laborers, workmen and mechanics employed by or on behalf of the State of California, or by or on behalf of any county, city and county, city, town, district or other political subdivision of the said state, engaged theconstruction of public works, exclusive ofmaintenance work... (emphases supplied.)

Section 4 of the 1931 Act was the precursor to present-day *Labor Code* section 1720. It provided:

done Construction work for utility, reclamation, irrigation, improvement and other districts, or other public agency, agencies, public officer or body, as well as street, sewer and other improvement work done under the direction and supervision or by the authority of any officer or public body of the state, or of any political subdivision, district or municipality thereof operates under a freeholder's charter heretofore or hereafter approved or not, also any construction or repair work done under contract, and paid for in whole or in part out of public funds . . . shall be held to be public works' within the meaning of this act.

The term "locality in which the work is performed shall be held to mean the city and county ...in which the building, highway, road, excavation or other structure, project, development or improvement is situated in all cases in

which the contract is awarded by the state. (emphases supplied.)

The PWL's focus on construction-related activity was evident from the Supreme Court's opinion in *Metropolitan Water Dist. v. Whitsett* (1932) 215 Cal. 400, 408, 417 ("Whitsett"), where the court upheld the PWL's constitutionality against attacks by the Metropolitan Water District that it was void for uncertainty. The Whitsett court rejected the Water District's assertion that the phrase "work of a similar character" in Section 1 of the 1931 Act was unconstitutionally vague, saying:

The character of the work to be performed on the proposed road or on any of the construction work to be done by the district in carrying out the object of its creation would not appear to be so extraordinary as not to permit a ready classification of the employees ...

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