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

(Stats. 1931, ch. 1144, p. 2432.)4
Former Penal Code section 653g, which prohibited charging
“a fee or valuable consideration” for securing employment on

public work, stated:

4 Former Penal Code section 653c is discussed in greater detail in
Part IT1, infra, at pp. 30-34. As is evident from the statute’s text,
it is the origin of the language now in subdivision (a)(2).

23



The term “public work” as used in this
section means and includes the
construction, alteration, addition to,
repair or improvement of any public
building, highway, road, tunnel, sewer,
excavation, irrigation project or other
structure, project, development or
improvement, and includes also
construction, alteration and repair work
done for irrigation, utility, reclamation
and improvement districts, and other
districts of this type, as well as street,
sewer and other improvement work, done
under the direction and supervision of
the State, or of any political subdivision,
district or municipality thereof, whether
such political subdivision, district or
municipality operates under a
freeholder’s charter heretofore or
hereafter approved or not.

(Stats. 1933, ch. 174, p. 621.)

In codifying the Labor Code, the Legislature jettisoned this
patchwork quilt in favor of a seamless web. Instead of making
one definition applicable to Article 2 governing “Wages,” another

definition applicable to Article 3 governing “Working Hours,” and

yet another definition applicable to Article 4 governing

“Employment of Aliens,” the Legislature crafted a single

integrated definition taken from parts of these statutes and made
it applicable to the “Public Works” chapter as a whole. (See
Stats. 1937, ch. 90, § 1720, p. 241; California Code Commission,
Proposed Labor Code (1936) p. 85 (hereafter “Code Commission
Note”) [“The provisions common to all these definitions have been
placed in the above section.”].) Indeed, the Legislature itself

described its work as “[a]n act to establish the Labor Code,
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thereby consolidating and revising the law relating to labor and
employment relations, and to repeal acts and parts of acts
specified herein.” (Stats. 1937, ch. 90, p. 185, emphasis added; cf.
Fluor Corp. v. Superior Court (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1175, 1194-1195
[citing analogous language in the Insurance Code in support of
the statement that “in enacting the code the Legislature actually
revised the law relating to insurance.”].)

When the Legislature intended to retain parts of the quilt,
it stated that intention explicitly. Thus, the Legislature stated
that a broader definition of “public works” applied to certain
Labor Code provisions relating to employment of aliens and
retaining wages. (Stats. 1937, ch. 90, § 1720, subd. (b), p. 241.)
The Legislature did not, however, state that a narrower
definition of “public»works” applied to Labor Code section 1771,
requiring payment of prevailing wage rates. (Id., § 1720, p. 241.)

The Legislature also structured the integrated definition so
that its three parts were coequal and operated independently of
each other. (Ibid.) By codifying the definitions as subdivisions
(a), (b) and (c) of section 1720, and not subordinating any one
subdivision to any other, the Legislature precluded a construction
whereby the words in one subdivision operate to modify or limit
the words in another. (Accord Estate of Earley (2009) 173
Cal.App.4th 369, 375 [A subdivision’s language is not affected by
a “separate and coequal part” of a statute that the subdivision “is
not subordinate to, or a subpart of.”].)

The Legislature’s structuring of the statutory scheme in

this manner, together with its simultaneous repeal of the Public

25



Wage Rate Act (Stats. 1937, ch. 90, p. 328), “strongly suggests the
Legislature intended to change the law” (People v. Mendoza
(2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 916) to require payment of prevailing
wages for public work that previously had only been subject to
restrictions regarding hours of labor and employment of aliens.
(Kaanaana, supra, 29 Cal.App.5th at pp. 794-795 [“When the
Labor Code was codified in 1937, the Legislature put multiple
provisions applicable to ‘public works’ in the same place, and
combined their definitions of ‘public works.” This had the effect of
broadening the definition of ‘public works’ beyond simply
construction work as it applied to the prevailing wage law.”].)
This intention is reflected in the prevailing wage law itself.
Whereas the Public Wage Rate Act had been limited to workers
“engaged in the construction of public works” (Stats. 1931, ch.
397, § 1, p. 910, emphasis added), the Legislature enlarged the
prevailing wage law in the Labor Code to include workers
“employed on public works.” (Stats. 1937, ch. 90, § 1771, p. 243,
emphasis added.) Similarly, whereas the Public Wagé Rate Act
had defined the “locality in which public work is performed” to
mean the place where “the building, highway, road, excavation,
or other structure, project, development or improvement is
situated” (Stats. 1931, ch. 397, § 4, p. 912, emphasis added), the
Legislature redefined that term in the Labor Code to mean “the
county in which the public work is done.” (Stats. 1937, ch. 90, §
1724, p. 241, emphasis added.) “When the Legislature uses
materially different language in statutory provisions addressing

the same subject or related subjects, the normal inference is that

26




the Legislature intended a difference in meaning.” (American
Coatings Assn. v. South Coast Air Quality Management Dist.
(2012) 54 Cal.4th 446, 463.)

It is, of course, true that codification of the prevailing wage
law generally resulted in “a revised, but substantively
unchanged, version of the same law.” (State Building &
Construction Trades Council, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 555.) Thus,
“[t]he 1937 law, like the 1931 law, directed the ‘body awarding
any contract’ to ‘ascertain the general prevailing rate of per diem
wages in the locality ... for each craft or type of workman needed
to execute the contract.” (Stats. 1937, ch. 90, § 1773, p. 243; see
Stats. 1931, ch. 397, § 2, p. 910.)” (Ibid.) But the fact that “the
prevailing wage law’s general purpose and scope remain|[ed]
largely unchanged” following codification (ibid., emphasis added),
does not mean that in every case the prevailing wage provisions
of the Labor Code must be construed identically to the Public
Wage Rate Act, regardless of any linguistic differences.5

This Court rejected a similar argument in In re~Trombley
(1948) 31 Cal.2d 801, disagreeing with the lower court’s holding
that a wage payment statute “had not been changed by
codification” in the 1937 Labor Code. (Id. at p. 807.) That case

concerned a constitutional challenge to Labor Code section 216

5 The Legislature in 1937 intended for the provisions of the new
code to be construed as restatements and not new enactments
only “in so far as they are substantially the same as existing
provisions relating to the same subject matter.” (Stats. 1937, ch.
90, § 2, p. 185, emphasis added.) For the reasons discussed
supra, the definition of “public works” in the Labor Code is not
“substantially the same as” the definition in the Public Wage
Rate Act, and thus may be construed as a new enactment.
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alleging that it conflicted with the prohibition against
imprisonment for debt. Labor Code section 216 had made it a
misdemeanor for any person who:

(a) Having the ability to pay, wilfully
refuses to pay wages due and payable
when demanded.

(b) Falsely denies the amount or validity
thereof, or that the same is due, with
intent to secure for himself, his employer
or other person, any discount upon such
indebtedness, or with intent to annoy,
harass, oppress, hinder, delay, or
defraud, the person to whom such
indebtedness is due.

(Id. at p. 805.)

This Court noted that “[t]he former statute was construed
to require a wrongful intent to defraud the employee where the
employer was charged, as here, with having the ability to pay and
wilfully refusing to pay wages, and it was held that the statute
did not conflict with the constitutional guaranty against
imprisonment for debt.” (Id. at p. 806.) Nevertheless, this Court
rejected the attorney general’s argument that Labor Code section
216 should be given the same construction. The Court explained:

Ordinarily, a mere change in phraseology
or punctuation in the codification of an
existing law will not be construed to have
changed its meaning since the principal
objects of the code commission in revising
the statutes are to restate and clarify
existing law and to correct inadvertent
errors. Sometimes, however, the
language of the prior statute is altered so
as to change the meaning placed upon
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the former statute with the result that a
change in the law is made through
codification. We are faced with that
situation here.

The making of two subdivisions out of the
former section, the placing of a period
between those subdivisions, and the
deletion of the word “or” between the acts
of wilfully refusing to pay and falsely
denying the amount or validity of wages
have made it impossible for subdivision
(a) to be modified by the last clause of
subdivision (b) which requires an intent
“to annoy, harass, oppress, hinder, delay,
or defraud, the person to whom such
indebtedness is due.” As the section is
now cast in the Labor Code, under
subdivision (a), an employer, “having the
ability to pay,” who “wilfully refuses to
pay wages due and payable when
demanded” is guilty of a misdemeanor,
and under subdivision (b), an employer,
regardless of ability, who “falsely denies
the amount or validity” of a claim for
wages “or that the same 1s due” with the -
intent specified therein is guilty of a
misdemeanor. In re Trombley, 78
Cal.App.2d 528 [178 P.2d 510], proceeded
on the theory that the statute had not
been changed by codification, and the
holding in that case must, therefore, be
disapproved.

(Id. at pp. 806-807, internal citations omitted, emphasis in

original.)

The same is true with respect to the definition of “public

works” codified in Labor Code section 1720 vis-a-vis the definition

in the Public Wage Rate Act. By adopting a single integrated
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definition of “public works” derived from statutes including, but
not limited to, the Public Wage Rate Act; by structuring that
definition so that its parts were coequal and operated
independently of each other; and by making that definition
applicable to the “Public Works” chapter as a whole including the
article on “Wages” and section 1771 in particular, the Legislature
“made it impossible” to limit the construction of “public works” in
the 1937 Labor Code to how the term had been defined in the
Public Wage Rate Act.

III. THE LEGISLATURE KNEW THE “WORK DONE
FOR” PHRASE INCLUDED “OPERATION WORK”
YET DECLINED TO LIMIT THE PREVAILING WAGE
LAW TO “CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR WORK.”

In arriving at the definition of “public works” in the 1937
Labor Code, the Legislature relied on the work of the California
code commission, which had been mandated by statute “to
immediately enter upon a revision of all the laws of this state.”
(Stats. 1929, ch. 750, § 2, p. 1428.) The code commission, in turn,
considered how the term had been defined in five theﬁ-existing
California statutes. (Code Commission Note, supra, [explaining
that “[t]he term ‘public work’ is defined in” Stats. 1931, ch. 397, p.
910 “re prevailing wages on public work;” Stats. 1931, ch. 398, p.
913 “re employment of aliens on public work;” Stats. 1931, ch.
1144, p. 2430 “re hours of labor on public work;” Stats. 1933, ch.
154, p. 606 “re retaining wages of employees;” and Stats. 1933,
ch. 174, p. 620 “re fees for obtaining work.”].) While only one of
the statutes concerned prevailing wages, “[t]he provisions

common to all these definitions” were included in the definition of
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“public works” in section 1720 of the 1937 Labor Code.t (Ibid.)

The “work done for” phrase at issue in this case first
entered the public works lexicon in 1929 as an amendment to
former Penal Code section 653c. (Stats. 1929, ch. 793, p. 1602.)
Enacted at the turn of the last century, former Penal Code
section 653c prohibited the government and its contractors “upon
any public works” from requiring or permitting “any laborer,
workman, or mechanic” to work more than “eight hours during
any one calendar day.” (Stats. 1905, ch. 505, p. 666.) The statute
did not originally define the “public works” that were subject to
its eight hour limitation. (Ibid.)

In 1920, before the statute was amended to include the
“work done for” phrase in dispute here, this Court affirmed a
judgment holding that the statute did not apply to city
firefighters. (Danielson v. Bakersfield (1920) 184 Cal. 262.) In a
terse opinion, this Court construed the statute to apply “to
persons engaged as workmen of some kind upon public work or
employed by some city or other public authority and éctually
engaged in labor.” (Id. at p. 263.)

In 1929, the Legislature introduced a bill to amend former
Penal Code section 653c. The bill proposed that the statute be
amended to provide:

Work done for irrigation, utility, reclamation
and improvement districts, and other districts
of this type, as well as street, sewer or other
improvement work done under the direction

6 The retaining wages statute did not actually define the term.
(See Stats. 1933, ch. 154, p. 606.) The definitions in the other
statutes are quoted in the body of Part II, supra, at pp. 21-24.
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and supervision of the state, or of any political
subdivision or district thereof, whether such
political subdivision or district operates under a
freeholder’s charter or not, shall be held to
come under the provisions of this section.

(Assem. Bill No. 132 (1929 Reg. Sess.), as introduced Jan. 10,
1929.)

Prior to its enactment, the Legislature amended the bill to
add the following proviso:

provided, however, that nothing in this section
shall apply to the operation of the irrigation or
drainage system of any irrigation or
reclamation district.

(Ibid., as amended May 1, 1929; Stats. 1929, ch. 793, p. 1602.)

The addition of this proviso indicates that the original
authors of the “work done for” phrase understood it to cover
operation work. (People ex rel. Happell v. Sischo (1943) 23 Cal.2d
478, 493 [“It is an accepted rule of statutory construction that a
proviso is used to limit and qualify that which immediately
precedes it and to expressly negative a construction that would
prevail in the absence of the proviso. Likewise, the general rule
1s that that which is excepted from the operation of the statute by
the proviso would, in the absence of the proviso, have been

included within the general words of the statute.”].)?

7 When the proviso was codified in the Labor Code, the words
“provided, however, that nothing in this section shall apply to”
were replaced by the words “[p]Jublic work’ shall not include.”
(See Stats. 1937, ch. 90, § 1720, subd. (b), p. 241.) But that was
not intended to change the function of the proviso. (See Code
Commission Note, supra, [explaining that “the exception” in
subdivision (b) was taken from former Penal Code section 653c].)
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Two years later, the Legislature employed substantially the
same “work done for” phrase in the Public Works Alien
Employment Act. (Stats. 1931, ch. 398, § 3, p. 914.) The
Legislature did not, however, include the proviso from former
Penal Code section 653c excluding the operation of the irrigation
or drainage system. (Ibid.)

In a note following the “public works” definition in the
proposed Labor Code, the code commission explained:

The only definitions which seem broad
enough to include as public work the
operation of irrigation and drainage
districts, are D. A. 6430 (aliens) and Pen.
C. 653(d) (retaining wages). The other
statutes have either expressly exempted
such operation or by the use of such words
as “construction and repair work” have
excluded operation work.

(Code Commission Note, supra, emphasis added.)8

Prior to enacting the language in question in the 1937
Labor Code, the Legislature was thus made aware that statutes
like former Penal Code section 653c and the Public Works Alien
Employment Act were broad enough to cover “operation work”
because they had not used words such as “construction and repair
work.” Despite that awareness, the Legislature opted to use the

same “work done for” phrase from those statutes in defining the

8 The Court “will consider the code commissioners’ notes when
they do not conflict with other persuasive evidence of legislative
intent and particularly where the commission’s comment is brief,
because in such a situation there is ordinarily strong reason to
believe that the legislators’ votes were based in large measure
upon the explanation of the commission proposing the bill.”
(Walker v. Superior Court (1988) 47 Cal.3d 112, 125.)
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work that would be subject to the code’s prevailing wage
requirements. Construing the Statute’s “work done for” phrase to
cover operation work is, therefore, consistent with the

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